No. 24-CV-0957



DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

Clerk of the Court
Received 08/27/2025 08:04 PM
Resubmitted 08/28/2025 11:52 AM

DARRYL JENNINGS, JR.,

Appellant,

v.

HOWARD UNIVERSITY, et al.,

Appellees.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF THE
SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA
No. 2022-CA-003118B

APPELLANT'S CORRECTED OPENING BRIEF

David A. Branch, Esq.
Law Office of David A. Branch & Associates, PLLC
1120 Connecticut Avenue, NW
Suite 500
Washington, DC 20036
(202) 785-2805 phone
(202) 785-0289 fax

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The D.C. Court of Appeals has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to D.C. Code § 11-721. The appeal arises from the March 18, 2024, (Order granting in part and denying in part Appellees' motion for summary judgment). The trial court denied summary judgment on Mr. Jennings' breach of contract claim relating to Dr. Hubsch's preparation and grading of the Mathematical Methods exam, and the September 12, 2024, order limiting Mr. Jennings' damages for the breach contract claim to a narrow theory with nominal damages only, excluding economic loss testimony. The trial court had jurisdiction pursuant to D.C. Code § 11-921. These rulings collectively disposed of Mr. Jennings' claims, rendering the judgment final and appealable.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Whether the trial court erred in granting summary judgment on Mr. Jennings' breach of contract and promissory estoppel claims by misinterpreting academic policies and ignoring Mr. Jennings' evidence of reliance and damages.

2. Whether the trial court erred in granting the motion for summary judgment on Mr. Jennings' claims of negligent supervision, negligent retention, and tortious interference with business relations, where Mr. Jennings alleged that faculty members acted outside University policy and with discriminatory or retaliatory motive.

3. Whether the trial court erred in excluding Mr. Jennings' claim for economic damages on the grounds that it was speculative or inadequately supported, despite his testimony that he experienced career delay, lost time, and reputational harm.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Jennings was a doctoral candidate in the Department of Mechanical Engineering at Howard University. Mr. Jennings sat for his comprehensive examinations—required for doctoral candidacy—but failed multiple sections on two attempts. A key portion of these exams, the Mathematical Methods section, was prepared and graded not by a department faculty member, but by Dr. Tristan Hubsch, a Physics professor. University policy specified that comprehensive exams were to be administered by departmental faculty. Mr. Jennings filed suit, asserting that his dismissal from the Ph.D. program violated the University’s policy, deprived him of a fair academic evaluation, and was exacerbated by negligent supervision and bad faith conduct. The University and Dr. Owolabi moved to dismiss all claims. On March 18, 2024, the trial court granted partial summary judgment, holding the only surviving theory was whether the policy requiring departmental administration of exams was breached. The trial court determined that the only triable issue was whether the policy requiring department faculty to administer exams was violated—and if so, whether Mr. Jennings was entitled to nominal damages. The trial court further determined exclusion of all evidence of economic damages, based largely on a discovery dispute concerning interrogatory responses. Mr. Jennings timely appealed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In 2017 Mr. Jennings enrolled as a Ph.D. student in the Mechanical Engineering Doctoral program at Howard University. JA0530 and JA0563. At the time he enrolled in Howard University's doctorate program, Mr. Jennings understood that Howard University would abide by published procedures for completion of the doctorate program, including Comprehensive Exam Procedures approved by the faculty of the Department of Mechanical Engineering on September 19, 2013, and specifically that the Graduate Program Director would convene a Comprehensive Examination Committee composed of "instructors of record for the courses covered in the written examination" and the student's research advisor. JA0531 and JA 0563. Dr. Smith told Mr. Jennings that the Comprehensive Examination on each subject would be administered by the professors who taught the courses. Id. and JA 0098.

When he enrolled at Howard University, Mr. Jennings was assigned to Dr. Sonya Smith as a research advisor. JA 0531 and JA0563. He performed research for Dr. Smith and his tuition and stipend was paid from Dr. Smith's grants. Id. Dr. Gbadebo Moses Owolabi, a native of Nigeria, was a professor in Howard's Mechanical Engineering program and the Graduate Program Director for the Department of Mechanical Engineering when Mr. Jennings enrolled at Howard

University. Id. Mr. Jennings later learned that Dr. Owolabi harbored misogynistic animus against Dr. Smith and had failed several students who did not work with him as their research advisor and failed all the students who were assigned to Dr. Smith as their research advisor. Id.

Mr. Jennings had a very uncomfortable encounter with Dr. Owolabi: Mr. Jennings, a heterosexual male, was present in Dr. Owolabi's office to discuss the results of the exam and during the course of that meeting, Dr. Owolabi demanded Mr. Jennings to come and sit next to him on a sofa. JA0531-0532 and JA 0564. Mr. Jennings refused to do so and made it clear that he was offended by the suggestion. Id. After this incident, Dr. Owolabi began to take actions to cause Mr. Jennings' discharge from the doctorate program. Id.

Between 2017 and 2019, Mr. Jennings did well in all of his course work. JA0532 and JA 0564. He obtained an "A" grade in some of the most difficult subjects-Advanced Fluid Mechanics, Advanced Heat Transfer, and Mathematical Methods in Physics I & II. Id. He also performed well in and passed all other required core courses for the Ph.D. program in mechanical engineering including Advanced Dynamics, Advanced Thermodynamics, and Continuum Mechanics. Id.

In fall 2019, Mr. Jennings was required to take the first Comprehensive

Written Examination. JA0532 and JA0564. Mr. Jennings was required to take the fall 2019 examination in a small conference room with two other graduate students. Id. Dr. Owolabi determined that an individual who was not an “instructor of record” for the courses covered in the written examination, Advanced Dynamics, and was not Mr. Jennings’ research advisor would administer the examination in this subject. JA0532 and JA 0564-0565. The exam given in Fall 2019 was administered by an examiner who was not an instructor of record for the courses covered, including an examiner, Dr. Grant Warner, who had never taught the subject before, much less taught Mr. Jennings, and did not provide information to Mr. Jennings on the material to be covered. Id. and JA 0104. Dr. Smith found this to be problematic and irregular. JA 0593 and JA0605 (Smith Dep. 1, at 84:15-89:8; 129:4-15).

During the examination, the individual administering the examination stood close in proximity to Mr. Jennings, invading his private space and making him uncomfortable. JA0532-0533 and JA0565. Further, the individual administering the examination accused the other student taking the examination of cheating and berated the student for fifteen minutes during the examination. JA0533, JA0565 and JA 0607 (Smith Dep. 1, at 139:3-140:2). Mr. Jennings was later informed that he received a failing score on the examination, but Howard University refused to provide him a copy of his graded examination. JA0533 and

JA0565. Dr. Owolabi, told Mr. Jennings to audit his course, Continuum Mechanics, which Mr. Jennings had previously taken with Dr. Owolabi and passed. Id. Mr. Jennings complied but Dr. Owolabi failed him on the Continuum Mechanics exam again in the second attempt in March 2020 and did not show him the results of the exam. Id.

On March 25, 2020, Mr. Jennings took the Comprehensive Written Examination which had its format arbitrarily changed. JA0533 and JA0565. The Continuum Mechanics exam was switched from an open-book exam to a closed-book exam. Id. The examiner of Advanced Dynamics in Spring 2020, Dr. Grant Warner, was not the “instructor of record”; had not taught Mr. Jennings the course; had never taught this subject before at Howard University; and did not provide any information pertaining materials covered. Id. The examiner of Advanced Thermodynamics, Dr. Nadir Yilmaz, in Spring 2020 was not the “instructor of record”; had not taught Mr. Jennings the course; and did not provide any information pertaining materials covered. JA0533 and JA0565- JA0566.

The Mathematical Methods section of Mr. Jennings’ exams was prepared and graded by Dr. Tristan Hübsch, a faculty member from the Physics Department. JA0100. Mr. Jennings failed that subject in the Fall 2019 and Spring 2020 Comprehensive Examinations. JA 0183 (Jennings Tr. 103-04). On March 31, 2020,

Howard University sent Mr. Jennings his exam results. JA0533 and JA0566. These results arbitrarily deleted his score as disclosed in his previous notice but did show that he again had failed four of the six subjects, including a subject that Mr. Jennings had earned an “A”. JA0533-0534 and JA0566. Mr. Jennings was refused access to his graded exams to see where and how he had given wrong responses. JA0534 and JA0566.

On May 29, 2020, Howard University informed Mr. Jennings that he was suspended by the Graduate School’s Interim Dean Dana Williams. JA0534 and JA0566. On June 1, 2020, Mr. Jennings filed an appeal to the graduate school, claiming along with the unfair, unprofessional, unprocedural, and arbitrary exam process, that he had been discriminated against for being an African American male, the only one in the program to be dismissed. *Id.* Howard University acknowledged that Dr. Owolabi was the subject of a series of complaints. JA0114-0115 (Defendant’s Statement of Material Facts at ¶¶ 130, 133-34).

On July 26, 2020, Mr. Jennings was invited to attend a mediation to appeal the department’s decision. *Id.* Howard University refused to provide any written guidelines as to the conduct at the mediation, or regulate the process, and refused to allow anyone to accompany Mr. Jennings to the mediation. *Id.* The matter was not resolved at mediation as Howard University engaged in a condescending,

insulting, and disrespectful manner. Id.

After mediation, Howard University offered to create an ad hoc committee proposed by the Chair of Mechanical Engineering Department, Dr. Nadir Yilmaz, without citing any authority to create such a committee to address Mr. Jennings' concerns. JA0534 and JA0566. On September 7, 2020, Mr. Jennings appealed to the Graduate School's Student Grievance Committee to conduct a formal hearing on his objections to the exam process and his allegations of discrimination. JA0535 and JA0567. The hearing was set for September 23, 2020. Id. Howard University did not send Mr. Jennings notice of the hearing by certified mail as required by its own rules. Id. The Committee ultimately denied Mr. Jennings' appeal and refused to disclose the reasons for its recommendation of Mr. Jennings' dismissal. Id.

After Mr. Jennings and other students protested Howard University's failure to follow its own guidelines, Provost Anthony K. Wutoh replaced the Comprehensive Exam Procedures on October 23, 2020, with a Memorandum, entitled "Graduate Comprehensive Examination—Dept. of Mechanical Engineering." JA0535 and JA0567. The new policy changed the requirement that the examination be administered by the instructors of record with a new requirement that "The questions should not be instructor specific; rather, they

should be designed based on a generally accepted standard of competency for the subject area.” Id.

Mr. Jennings appealed the decision to dismiss him from the program in conformance with the Graduate School Rules & Regulations Article III Section 2, Student Handbook 2020-2021 Section III. JA0535 and JA0567. Mr. Jennings believed that the Grievance Committee made recommendations regarding reinstating him as a Ph.D. student in the department based on the Grievance hearing. Id. Howard University refused to provide Mr. Jennings with the Committee’s recommendation. Id. Howard University conditioned disclosure of the Grievance Committee’s recommendations in exchange for a release of all of Mr. Jennings’ prospective claims. JA0569.

The Interim Graduate School Dean Dana Williams thereafter initiated an arbitrary review process of Mr. Jennings’ written examinations in the Comprehensive Examinations taken in the fall of 2019 and spring of 2020. JA0535-0536 and JA0567-0568. Based on this arbitrary review process, the Interim Graduate Dean made a final decision to deny the appeal and dismiss Mr. Jennings from Howard University. JA0536 and JA0568.

Mr. Jennings then followed the published grievance procedures and filed an appeal for readmission on June 1, 2020, but on December 11, 2020, the Interim

Graduate Dean notified Mr. Jennings that his appeal was denied and that the matter was closed. JA0536 and JA0568. Howard University admitted that its reasoning was based on an unauthorized double-blind review process that allegedly assessed Mr. Jennings' performance in the Department. *Id.* Howard University refused to disclose the actual deliberations of the double-blind review process or otherwise explain how the decision was reached. *Id.*

Mr. Jennings filed suit, asserting that Howard University violated its own academic rules and procedures, and that the involvement of non-departmental personnel in preparing and grading his exam unlawfully deprived him of academic standing. JA0014-0029. He also alleged breach of contract, promissory estoppel/detrimental reliance, negligent supervision and retention, and tortious interference with business relations against the University and Dr. Owolabi. *Id.* Howard University and Dr. Owolabi filed a Motion to Dismiss Counts II-IV of Mr. Jennings' complaint, pursuant to Super. Ct. Civ. R. 12(b)(6) for failure to state a claim. JA0076-0077. The trial court issued an Order on November 29, 2022, denying dismissal of Counts II-IV and denying dismissal of Mr. Jennings' claims for emotional distress and punitive damages. JA0079, JA0081, and JA0083-JA0084.

During discovery, Mr. Jennings was asked to describe the basis for his

economic loss. JA0503. He identified lost time, delayed professional advancement, and career disruption as direct consequences of his improper dismissal. JA 0725 and JA0736-0737. Mr. Jennings lost four years of progress towards a Ph.D. in Mechanical Engineering at Howard University and had to begin a new doctorate program at the University of Virginia. Id. Mr. Jennings also provided the following supplemental response in regards to describing factual basis for damages claim as “...Being expelled is an extreme mark of shame and an academic scar on my permanent record...To reach the highest level of academic study and to be deemed not worthy, hurt on a level that have never experienced before as a researcher.” JA0504.

The University and Dr. Owolabi filed a motion for summary judgment and Mr. Jennings filed his opposition on November 29, 2023. JA0529-JA0619. On March 18, 2024, the trial court issued an Order, granting in part and denying in part the motion for summary judgment. JA0675-JA0676. Appellees later filed an Opposed *In Limine* Motion requesting Mr. Jennings be precluded from presenting evidence or argument at trial in support of any claim for economic-loss damages, seeking to enforce the trial court’s May 18, 2023, ruling that Mr. Jennings would be limited to his interrogatory responses regarding economic loss damages at trial because the responses referred to emotional distress damages but did not describe that factual basis for the claim, or provide any computations. JA0677. Mr.

Jennings filed his opposition arguing that at the motions hearing, Mr. Jennings argued that as a result of being dismissed from the Ph.D program, he was delayed in obtaining his degree and had to enroll in another program; he lost wages from the delay in completing his degree and the stigma from being dismissed from the program.” JA0762-0763. Mr. Jennings further asserted his entitlement to present to the jury all damages that flow from the breach of the contract, not just nominal damages. JA0763.

On September 12, 2024, the trial court ruled that Mr. Jennings failed to articulate a factual basis for claiming economic damages and regarded Mr. Jennings’ interrogatory responses as insufficient and precluded him from introducing any economic-loss evidence at trial. JA0766-0769. Mr. Jennings filed a timely notice of appeal. JA0770-0771.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court improperly granted summary judgment on Mr. Jennings' breach of contract and promissory estoppel claims. Mr. Jennings alleged that the University and Dr. Owolabi breached the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing by performing the contractual obligations in bad faith or in an arbitrary and capricious manner and breached the contractual obligations by blocking Mr. Jennings from fulfilling his contract obligations

Mr. Jennings relied on Howard University's published academic policies and faculty representations, including those concerning who would administer comprehensive examinations. The trial court misapplied the law governing contractual obligations in the academic context and failed to credit material factual disputes regarding the meaning and application of those policies.

Also, the trial court erred in dismissing Mr. Jennings' tort claims for negligent supervision, negligent retention, and tortious interference with business relations by overlooking specific factual allegations that the University knowingly retained and failed to supervise Dr. Owolabi and other faculty members despite actual or constructive knowledge of their bias and/or retaliatory conduct. Mr. Jennings also alleged that Dr. Owolabi acted outside the scope of his official duties when he sabotaged Mr. Jennings' progress in the Ph.D. program, constituting tortious interference with his educational relationship with the University.

Further, the trial court wrongly excluded Mr. Jennings' economic damages, relying on an overly rigid interpretation of his interrogatory responses. Contrary to the trial court's conclusion, Mr. Jennings articulated a well-supported theory of harm grounded in delayed academic progress, lost professional opportunities, and reputational injury. The trial court's decision to bar economic-loss evidence denied Mr. Jennings a fair opportunity to prove his damages at trial.

Finally, the trial court's rulings improperly narrowed the case to a single issue—whether Mr. Jennings was entitled to nominal damages based on the administration of the Mathematical Methods exam by non-departmental faculty. This framing excluded the broader pattern of procedural violations and retaliatory conduct that Mr. Jennings alleged throughout the litigation. As a result, the trial court erroneously resolved factual disputes that should have been presented to a jury. Reversal is warranted so that Mr. Jennings may pursue his tort and contract claims and recover the full extent of his damages.

ARGUMENT

I. Standard of Review

The District of Columbia Court of Appeals reviews the grant of summary judgment de novo. *Henderson v. District of Columbia*, 493 A.2d 982, 987 (D.C. 1985). Summary judgment is appropriate only when the pleadings, depositions,

answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with any affidavits, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Id.

A genuine issue of material fact exists if “a reasonable juror could find for the non-moving party.” *O’Connor v. District of Columbia*, 921 A.2d 853, 858 (D.C. 2007). In reviewing a motion for summary judgment, the Court must view the facts in the light most favorable to the non-moving party and draw all reasonable inferences accordingly. *Morrison v. MacNamara*, 407 A.2d 555, 560 (D.C. 1979). If the evidence permits differing reasonable interpretations or if a fair-minded jury could return a verdict for the non-moving party, summary judgment is inappropriate. See *Byrd v. Jackson*, 902 A.2d 778, 781 (D.C. 2006).

II. The Trial Court Erred in Granting Summary Judgment on Mr. Jennings' Breach of Contract and Promissory Estoppel Claims

The trial court erred in concluding that the 2013 Procedures were not part of the parties’ contractual agreement and thus the requirement to use instructors of record for the comprehensive exams have no contractual force. JA0656-0657. The trial court further erred in determining that the University’s actions were not in bad faith or otherwise arbitrary and capricious.

“Under D.C. law, the elements required to prevail on a claim of breach of

contract are ‘(1) a valid contract between the parties; (2) an obligation or duty arising out of the contract; (3) a breach of that duty; and (4) damages caused by breach.’” *Camarda v. Certified Fin. Planner Bd.of Standards, Inc.*, 672 F. App’x 28, 29 (D.C. Cir. 2016) (quoting *Tsintolas Realty Co. v. Mendez*, 984 A.2d 181, 187 (D.C. 2009)). Further, under D.C. law, the relationship between a university and its students is contractual in nature. *Basch v. George Washington Univ.*, 370 A.2d 1364, 1366 (D.C. 1977). While courts defer to a university’s academic judgment, that deference does not extend to violations of clearly stated procedural rights or bad-faith deviations from established academic policies. *Wright v. Howard Univ.*, 60 A.3d 749, 755 (D.C. 2013).

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