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

## **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The University properly exercised its academic judgment and contract rights to dismiss Jennings for his two-time failure to pass the comprehensive examinations. The courts give such university actions broad judicial deference, absent bad faith or arbitrary conduct.

The lower court properly granted summary judgment to the Appellees on all but one of the claims. The sole surviving claim relating to Dr. Hubsch's examination was voluntarily dismissed by Jennings in the lower court, and that abandoned claim (or any associated damages thereunder) should not be considered on appeal.

Jennings argues that disputed issues of fact exist on numerous matters, but that is wrong. Jennings admitted the vast majority of facts listed by Appellees in their SMUF; Jennings admitted many more at his deposition; and what little else he offers is inaccurate on its face or immaterial. There are no material, genuinely disputed facts. While Jennings' Brief maligns the University, and Dr. Owolabi in particular, the undisputed evidence refutes those arguments.

The lower court correctly determined that there was no express contract requiring the University to use only "instructors of record" for Jennings' comprehensive examinations. Jennings does not dispute that ruling on appeal.

Instead, Jennings argues that such a new duty, to use only "instructors of record," should be imposed on the University under the implied duty of good faith

and fair dealing. That is baseless for two reasons. First, the courts do not impose under the rubric of “good faith” entirely new obligations that are not needed to preserve the parties’ rights under their express contract. Second, Jennings points to no express contractual requirement that would be undermined or compromised by using other instructors, and Jennings suggested none below.

Jennings’ other contract claims were each presented in one-sentence assertions. Such perfunctory treatment is insufficient on appeal, and those claims should be deemed to have been waived. In any event, the lower court’s rulings on these other contract claims were sound.

Jennings’ claim that the University was bound under the doctrine of “promissory estoppel” to use only instructors of record was properly rejected by the lower court. As a matter of law, there can be no claim for “promissory estoppel” where, as here, the parties have an express contract (the GS Rules and Handbook). Also, as a matter of undisputed fact, there was no definite “promise” made, as the lower court ruled. Instead, only a vague statement was made by one professor (who was not the Department Chair or Graduate Program Director) about what had happened sometime in the past, with no promise made “in words or substance” that the same would be done in Jennings’ case. The lower court correctly rejected the promissory-estoppel claim for both reasons.

The lower court also correctly granted summary judgment to the University

on Jennings' claim for negligent supervision of Dr. Owolabi. As a matter of law, no such claim can be brought for Dr. Owolabi's failure to use only "instructors of record" as examiners, because there was no such contractual requirement. Jennings also failed to advance any expert evidence on the University's standard of care, which was required given the professional judgment required in the unique academic field where great deference is given to faculty's academic decisions and where faculty have grievance rights and academic freedom. Finally, there was also no negligent supervision, as shown by the undisputed evidence.

Likewise, the lower court correctly granted summary judgment on the claim against Dr. Owolabi for tortious interference. He did not "interfere" with a contractual right to use only "instructors of record" because there was no such contract right. The undisputed evidence refutes Jennings' other allegations of tortious interference. This Court should affirm the judgment below.

## **ARGUMENT**

### **I. THE STANDARD OF REVIEW**

Appellees agree with Jennings that that this Court reviews *de novo* the grant of a motion for summary judgment. (Jennings Br. 15.)

The standards for summary judgment are well established. The Superior Court should grant summary judgment when "the movant shows that there is no genuine dispute as to any material fact and the movant is entitled to judgment as a

matter of law.” D.C. Super. Ct. R. Civ. P. 56(a). While all inferences should be drawn in favor of the non-moving party, that non-moving party cannot avoid summary judgment by tortured contentions, but only with proof that “reasonable jurors could find by a preponderance of the evidence” entitles the plaintiff to a verdict. Johnson v. Washington Gas Light Co., 109 A.3d 1118, 1119 (D.C. 2015) (quoting Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 252 (1986)).

Self-serving and conclusory statements do not create a genuine issue of material fact. McFarland v. George Washington University, 935 A.2d 337, 349 (D.C. 2007).

The lower court’s ruling can be affirmed on the basis of any evidence in the record, even if different than the rationale described by the lower court. Brown v. Hornstein, 669 A.2d 139, 144 n.5 (D.C. 1996).

This Court reviews a “trial court’s discovery and evidentiary rulings for abuse of discretion.” Murray v. Motorola, Inc., 339 A.3d 152, 168 (D.C. 2025); Oh v. National Capital Revitalization Corp., 7 A.3d 997, 1009 n.21 (D.C. 2010) (“We review a trial court's rulings on motions *in limine* to exclude evidence for abuse of discretion”).

Points that Jennings did not raise in his appeal brief are waived. Rose v. United States, 629 A.2d 526, 535 (D.C. 1993).

“Where a party generally raises an issue on appeal without supporting argument, [the Court] deem[s] [the issue] abandoned.” D.C. Appleseed Ctr. for Law and Just., Inc. v. D.C. Dep’t of Ins., 214 A.3d 978, 990 (D.C. 2019) (*quoting Graham v. United States*, 12 A.3d 1159, 1167 n.10 (D.C. 2011)).

## **II. JENNINGS CANNOT DISPUTE FACTS THAT HE ADMITTED AT HIS DEPOSITION OR FAILED TO DISPUTE WITH EVIDENCE IN HIS RESPONSE TO APPELLEES’ SMUF**

As noted above, in the lower court Jennings admitted or did not dispute the vast majority of the 153 paragraphs in Appellees’ SMUF.<sup>4</sup> (JA 551-558.) Jennings also did not “cit[e] to particular parts or materials in the record” supporting his denial of a handful of them, as required by Superior Court Rule of Civil Procedure 56(c)(1)(A). Therefore, all purported “denials” should be treated as “undisputed” under Superior Court Rule of Civil Procedure 56(e)(2). (*See* JA 651.)

In addition, most of Jennings’ “Statement of Facts” in his Brief (at 12-25) are drawn from a Declaration he submitted after the close of discovery (JA 561-570), which in turn is drawn nearly *verbatim* from the Complaint. (JA 15-22.) However, as set forth above, many of the assertions in the Jennings Declaration are contrary to

---

<sup>4</sup> The few denials are based mainly on objections that deposition testimony “speaks for itself,” but with no explanation or citation to anything in the deposition transcripts that is inconsistent with the description in the SMUF. (JA 551-558, SMUF ¶¶ 18, 42, 74, 100, 101, 109, 117, 140, 153.) Jennings responded that he “lacks personal knowledge” of other SMUF paragraphs, but he did not dispute those SMUF paragraphs with evidence as required under Super. Ct. R. Civ. P. 56(c)(1) & (e)(2).

admissions made by Jennings in his deposition testimony. Those assertions are barred by the sham-affidavit rule. Sibley v. St. Albans Sch., 134 A. 3d 789, 813 (D.C. 2016).

### **III. THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON JENNINGS' CLAIMS IN COUNT I FOR BREACH OF CONTRACT**

#### **A. GENERAL PRINCIPLES**

*Contract claims.* For a breach of contract claim, a plaintiff must prove “(1) a valid contract between the parties; (2) an obligation or duty arising out of contract; (3) a breach of that duty; and (4) damages caused by the breach.” Tsintalos Realty Co. v. Mendez, 984 A.2d 181, 187 (D.C. 2009). (JA 656.)

While courts have ruled that the relationship between a university and its students is “contractual in nature,” Manago v. District of Columbia, 934 A.2d 925, 927 (D.C. 2007), whether a specific university policy gives rise to contractual rights “depend[s] upon general principles of contract construction.” Basch v. George Washington University, 370 A.2d 1364, 1366 (D.C. 1977).

For there to be a contract, the parties must ““(1) express an intent to be bound, (2) agree to all material terms, and (3) assume material obligations.”” Dyer v. Bilaal, 983 A.2d 349, 356 (D.C. 2009). This is consistent with the general rule that, “[i]n order to form a binding agreement, both parties must have the distinct intention to

be bound.” Edmund J. Flynn Co. v. LaVay, 431 A.2d 543, 547 (D.C. 1991). The lower court applied these principles. (JA 656.)

Jennings had the burden of proof to show that a defendant intended to be bound. Jack Baker, Inc. v. Off. Space Dev. Corp., 664 A.2d 1236, 1238 (D.C. 1995).

*Substantial compliance.* “Where a university has adopted rules or Procedures in [academic] areas, the courts will only intervene where there has not been substantial compliance with those procedures.” Brown v. George Washington University, 802 A.2d 382, 385 (D.C. 2002). “For a breach to be material, it must be so serious to destroy the essential object of the agreement.” 3511 13<sup>th</sup> Street Tenants’ Ass’n v. 3511 13th Street. M.W. Residences, LLC, 922 A.2d 439, 445 (D.C. 2007) (quoting Ranes v. American Family Mut. Ins. Co., 219 Wis. 2d 49, 580 N.W.2d 197, 200 (1998)). See Hajjar-Nejad v. George Washington Univ., 37 F. Supp. 3d 90, 120-21 (D.D.C. 2014).

*Duty of good faith and fair dealing.* The University’s contracts create an implied duty of good faith and fair dealing. This means that “neither party shall do anything which will have the effect of destroying or injuring the right of the other party to receive the fruits of the contract.” Paul v. Howard University, 754 A.2d 297, 310 (D.C. 2000) (quoting Hais v. Smith, 547 A.2d 986, 987 (D.C. 1988)).

As the court below explained, to “state a claim for breach of the implied duty of good faith and fair dealing, a plaintiff must allege either bad faith or conduct that

is arbitrary and capricious.” (JA 657, *quoting Wright v. Howard University*, 60 A.3d 749, 754 (D.C. 2013).) To create a triable issue of fact, “a party must present evidence not simply of negligence or lack of diligence, but of arbitrary and capricious action.” (JA, 657-58, *quoting Allworth v. Howard University*, 890 A.2d 194, 202 (D.C. 2006).)

*Judicial deference.* The court below correctly explained that broad deference is due to universities’ decisions about academic dismissals of students: “in cases involving academic dismissal, educational institutions will be entitled to summary judgment unless the plaintiff can provide some evidence from which a fact finder ‘could conclude that there was no rational basis for the decision or that it was motivated by bad faith or ill will unrelated to academic performance.’” (JA 658, *quoting Alden v. Georgetown Univ.*, 734 A.2d 1103, 1109 (D.C. 1999) (citation omitted)). This is consistent with this Court’s other rulings about judicial deference in university cases.<sup>5</sup> (JA 658.) In particular, “a judgment by school officials that a student has not performed adequately to meet the school’s academic standards is a determination that usually calls for judicial deference.”

---

<sup>5</sup> See *Wright*, 60 A.3d at 755 (“the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing should not be interpreted so broadly that courts end up ‘substitut[ing] their judgment improperly for the academic judgment of the school’”); *Allworth*, 890 A.2d at 202 (“in the university context where concepts of academic freedom and academic judgment are so important[,] . . . courts generally give deference to the discretion exercised by university officials”).

Alden, 734 A.2d 1103 at 1108 (*citing* Kraft v. William Alanson White Psychiatric Found., 498 A.2d 1145, 1149 (D.C. 1985)). *See* Jung v. George Washington Univ., 875 A.2d 95, 108 (D.C.) (same), *amended op.*, 883 A.2d 104 (D.C. 2005).

## **B. THE 2013 PROCEDURES WERE NOT CONTRACTUALLY BINDING ON THE UNIVERSITY**

The lower court found that the 2013 Procedures “were not part of the parties’ contractual arrangement.” (JA 656.) It was undisputed that Jennings never knew of the 2013 Procedures while at the University and they were never circulated to students. (*Id.*; *see* JA 97, 99-100, SMUF ¶ 41, 55-56.) Therefore, Jennings could not have intended to be bound by them.<sup>6</sup> Dyer, 983 A.2d 356. (JA 657.) They were non-binding internal guidelines, to be used only in 2013.<sup>7</sup> (*See* p. 8 & n.1, *supra*.)

On appeal, Jennings does not claim that the 2013 Procedures were themselves a contract. (Jennings Initial Br. 34; Jennings Br. 15.) He has therefore abandoned that claim. Rose, 629 A.2d at 535.

---

<sup>6</sup> In a similar case, this Court ruled that, “to get to the jury on a claim that the University was contractually bound by policies in [a staff manual, plaintiff] was required to set forth ‘specific, probative evidence’ . . . that the Manual was given to her or that it was published or distributed to all employees.” Clampitt v. American University, 957 A.2d 23, 37 (D.C. 2012) (*quoting* Warren v. Medlantic Health Group, Inc., 936 A.2d 733, 737 (D.C. 2007)).

<sup>7</sup> *See* Moini v. Wrighton, 602 F. Supp. 3d 162, 182 (D.D.C. 2022) (internal university “guidelines” were not “contractually binding on the parties”), *aff’d*, No. 22-7101, 2024 WL 2106214 (D.C. Cir. May 1, 2024)); Richter v. Catholic University, Civ. No. 18-00583 (RJL), 2019 WL 48164, at \*3 (D.D.C. Feb. 7, 2019) (academic rules stating a university’s “expectations” of students was not a contract).

### **C. THERE WAS NO DUTY OF GOOD FAITH TO USE ONLY INSTRUCTORS OF RECORD**

Instead, Jennings argues that the University's use of some examiners who were not instructors of record breached the contractual duty of good faith. (Jennings Br. 17; *see* Jennings Initial Br. 34.) But Jennings never identifies any contract rights that would be undermined, "destroy[ed] or injur[ed]" by not using only instructors of record. Paul, 754 A.2d at 310.

The "damaged" contract rights could not be the 2013 Procedures because they were not an express contract, as Jennings acknowledged. (Jennings Initial Br. 34; Jennings Br. 15.) As the lower court found, this precluded Jennings' good-faith claim because Jennings "had no contractual right to have his exams administered by only instructors of record," and therefore "Howard did not breach its covenant of good faith and fair dealing by failing to do something it had no obligation to do." (JA 659.) The court explained: "Parties do not breach the implied covenant 'by failing to do something they had no obligation to do' under their written agreement." (JA 659, *quoting* Chambers v. NASA Federal Credit Union, 222 F. Supp. 3d 1, 13 (D.D.C. 2016) (*quoting* Brown v. Sessoms, 774 F.3d 1016, 1025 (D.C. Cir. 2014)). *See* Paul, 754 A.2d at 311 (rejecting bad-faith claim because plaintiff had "no contractual right to receive tenure" and the university "acted within the standards set forth in the handbooks when considering her tenure applications").

Furthermore, the “undisputed” express contracts – namely, the GS Rules and the Department Handbook – did not require only use of “instructors of record.” (JA 669; *see* JA 192, SMUF ¶ 15; JA 552, RSMUF ¶ 15.) Those contractual documents required only that examinations be “administered by the Graduate Faculty of the department in which the student is enrolled.” (JA 388, GS Rules § 7; JA 466, Dept. Handbook.) There was no evidence or argument presented by Jennings that this express contract (or any other contract) was damaged or undermined in any way when some of Jennings’ examiners were not his instructors of record. Paul, 754 A.2d at 310.

Finally, the ruling could be affirmed based on Jennings’ undisputed, “deliberate” failure to object contemporaneously to the list of examiners when Dr. Owolabi presented the list. (JA 101-102, 110, SMUF ¶¶ 61, 63, 104-106; JA 554, 556, RSMUF ¶¶ 61, 63, 104-106.) Although the lower court disagreed (JA 661-662), as a matter of law Jennings thereby waived any claim that he was denied proper examiners due to his failure to timely object. Caesar v. Westchester Corp., 280 A.3d 176, 185 (D.C. 2022); Nortel Networks, Inc. v. Gold & Appel Transfer, S.A., 298 F. Supp. 2d 81, 88 (D.D.C. 2004). (*See* JA 143-144.)

**D. JENNINGS CANNOT PURSUE ON APPEAL HIS CONTRACT AND DAMAGES CLAIM ABOUT THE EXAMINATION GIVEN BY DR. HUBSCH BECAUSE JENNINGS VOLUNTARILY DISMISSED THAT CLAIM IN THE COURT BELOW**

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